FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/14/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/14/2023 12:25 PM

SUPREME COURT NO. 101901-7

NO. 83153-4-I

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

#### KHALID HAYBE,

Petitioner.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Kristin Richardson, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

JENNIFER WINKLER Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC
The Denny Building
2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250
Seattle, Washington 98121
206-623-2373

### **

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED12
	1. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3)
	2. The seating of a biased juror constituted manifest constitutional error
	a. <u>Talbott did not address a claim of manifest</u> constitutional error, which Haybe can establish12
	b. Haybe prevails on the merits
	3. Defense counsel's acquiescence to the seating of a biased juror also deprived Haybe of the effective assistance of counsel
E.	CONCLUSION28

### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Page WASHINGTON CASES
<u>State v. Brett</u> 126 Wn.2d 136, 892 P.2d 29 (1995)
<u>State v. Cho</u> 108 Wn. App. 315, 30 P.3d 496 (2001)19
<u>State v. Clark</u> 143 Wn.2d 731, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001)16, 17
<u>State v. Estes</u> 188 Wn.2d 450, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017)25, 26
<u>State v. Fire</u> 145 Wn.2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001),16, 17
State v. Guevara Diaz 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 456 P.3d 869 review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1025 (2020)13, 15, 17, 18, 19, 23
<u>State v. Irby</u> 187 Wn. App. 183, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015)
<u>State v. Lawler</u> 194 Wn. App. 275, 374 P.3d 278 (2016)15
<u>State v. Lupastean</u> 200 Wn.2d 26, 513 P.3d 781 (2022)24
<u>State v. McFarland</u> 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
<u>State v. Mendez</u> 137 Wn.2d 208, 970 P.2d 722 (1999)14
<u>State v. Noltie</u> 116 Wn.2d 831, 809 P.2d 190 (1991)19
<u>State v. Phillips</u> 6 Wn. App. 2d 651, 431 P.3d 1056 (2018)15
<u>State v. Ramsey</u> noted at 21 Wn. App. 2d 1034, 2022 WL 842605 review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1028 (2022)
<u>State v. Talbott</u> 200 Wn.2d 731, 521 P.3d 948 (2022) 2, 11-13, 16, 17, 24, 28
FEDERAL CASES
Brendlin v. California 551 U.S. 249, 127 S. Ct. 2400, 168 L. Ed. 2d 132 (2007)14
<u>Dyer v. Calderon</u> 151 F.3d 970 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998)
<u>Hughes v. United States</u> 258 F.3d 453 (6 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001)
<u>Miller v. Webb</u> 385 F.3d 666 (6 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004)18
Patton v. Yount 467 U.S. 1026, 104 S. Ct. 2885, 81 L. Ed. 2d 847 (1984) 19

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
Strickland v. Washington 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)
25, 27, 28
<u>Taylor v. Illinois</u> 484 U.S. 400, 108 S. Ct. 646, 98 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1988)15, 27
<u>Taylor v. Louisiana</u> 419 U.S. 522, 95 S. Ct. 692, 42 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1975)18
<u>United States v. Gonzalez</u> 214 F.3d 1109 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000)
<u>United States v. Kechedzian</u> 902 F.3d 1023 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2018)19, 21, 22, 23
<u>United States v. Martinez Salazar</u> 528 U.S. 304, 120 S. Ct. 774, 145 L. Ed. 2d 792 (2000)26
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
RAP 2.512
RAP 13.412, 28
RCW 4.44.170
U.S. Const. amend. VI
CONST. art. I, § 21
CONST. art. I, § 22

#### A. PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner Khalid Haybe seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in State v. Haybe, attached as Appendix A. The Court of Appeals denied a motion for reconsideration. Appendix B.

#### B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

To protect the right to trial by an impartial jury, the trial court should excuse a prospective juror for cause if the juror's views would prevent or substantially impair the performance of their duties. The seating of a biased juror cannot be harmless. Prospective juror 16 expressed bias against persons accused of crimes involving guns, particularly where the person had a prior felony conviction. Asked if she would be concerned about the ability to be fair, the juror said probably. Later asked about her bias, the prospective juror agreed she *thought she could try* to be fair and impartial. Prospective juror 16 never gave an unequivocal assurance of impartiality following her statement of

bias. But Haybe's counsel did not exercise a peremptory challenge against the prospective juror and accepted the panel.

- 1. Following this Court's decision State v. Talbott, 200 Wn.2d 731, 521 P.3d 948 (2022), should Haybe's conviction be reversed based on manifest constitutional error?
- 2. Relatedly, did Haybe's attorney provide ineffective assistance by allowing a biased juror to serve?

#### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u><sup>1</sup>

The State charged Haybe with first degree unlawful firearm possession after a 9-1-1 caller reported that Haybe had shown a gun when asking the caller to go away. CP 1-5, 53. Following a jury trial, Haybe was convicted and sentenced to 33 months in prison. CP 62, 76.

Haybe was born in Somalia in the late 1970s but emigrated to the United States in the early 1990s. As a child, Haybe

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The seven volumes of verbatim reports are consecutively paginated.

experienced the myriad horrors of war and life as a refugee. CP 67-70. Haybe has struggled with alcohol use. CP 69-70.

Haybe was prohibited from possessing a firearm due to residential burglary convictions from several years prior to the incident in this case. CP 79. In a presentence report, defense counsel surmised Haybe felt the need to carry a gun in order to feel safe considering his life experiences. CP 64.

The case was tried to a jury in mid-2021. Jury selection occurred via internet conference software in two groups of approximately 30. 3RP 322-486.

One of the first group, prospective juror 16 expressed misgivings about serving on a case involving a gun because she disliked guns and did not believe *anyone* should have a gun. 3RP 355-56. In a first prolonged exchange, she *initially* assured the prosecutor that, nevertheless, she would need to be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt before convicting a person accused of such a crime. The exchange occurred as follows:

[Prosecutor]: [I want] to ask one final asked question. You were this on your questionnaires. Is there anyone that thinks that there's a reason that they cannot be an impartial juror in this case? And I think that was similar to what Juror Number 11 and Juror Number 13 were asked. Does anyone feel after . . . hearing that that they don't feel they can be an impartial juror and fully and fairly consider the facts of the case knowing . . . what you've just seen here so far? Please raise your hand if you think that's the case. Juror Number 16 and Juror Number 9. Juror Number 16, can you go first, please?

JUROR NO. 16: . . . I also have strong feelings about, like, gun laws and really think that no one should—needs to have a gun. So I think I would find it hard to, like . . . I just don't think that anyone needs to have a gun. So when there's a law that's broken regarding having a gun, . . . I think that I—

[Prosecutor]: And—sorry to cut you off—

JUROR NO. 16: —yeah. I don't know.

[Prosecutor]: —Juror 16[, d]o you think that knowing that if someone is charged with . . . having a gun or being connected to gun in any way that your feelings would interfere with your ability to consider them to be presumed innocent throughout the course of the trial?

JUROR NO. 16: I think I would be okay. I think that I would need to really, really, really,

really be convinced. Like, which is what a trial is, but I—yeah.

[Prosecutor]: And . . . just to clarify, when you say convinced, you need to be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt to find that person guilty? Okay. [Is] that a correct statement? [I] saw you . . . nodding your head, but I just want to make sure I understood what . . . you were saying.

JUROR NO. 16: Can you ask the question . . . one more time?

[Prosecutor]: Okay. You said earlier that you need to be really convinced. So if you were to impartially look at the facts of the case as a juror, you'd need to be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt to change your belief that the Defendant was presumed innocent; is that correct?

JUROR NO. 16: Yeah.

3RP 355-57.

Defense counsel followed up in the more specific context of a gun crime involving a felon. The defense inquiry produced different results:

[Defense counsel]: Mr. [Prosecutor] started out by saying that he is the only person in the trial that has the burden of proof and . . . I'm . . . going to ask another juror who shared their [opinion] by raising their hand, Juror Number 16. No one raised

their hand to take issue with the fact that the State is the person with the burden of proof in the trial with respect to every element of the crime charged. *Yet, here, several jurors seem to suggest that if they have evidence of one part of the crime, [a prior conviction,] they're going to lower the burden.*[<sup>2</sup>] They're...going to shift the burden even, perhaps, over to the Defendant to show he's innocent. Do you agree with that?

JUROR NO. 16: I—no. I don't know. I feel like . . . a convicted felon is not supposed to have a gun period. So the idea that that is even at play, like, makes me feel that, yeah, he would be guilty over innocent.

[Defense counsel]: Does that mean that in a trial where the person is being accused of having a prior conviction that disqualifies them from possessing a firearm, you would not apply the presumption of innocence . . . to the other facts that you need to decide in the case?

JUROR NO. 16: I would try really, really, really hard, but I... would say, like, it would be in the back of my head that, you know, the other details.

[Defense counsel]: [Juror 16,] you did respond to a question that specifically addressed any concern about impartiality where the alleged crime involves firearm possession. *And I think you* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>See</u> 3RP 361-69 (voir dire discussion of effect of prior conviction on ability to presume innocence).

indicate you did have a concern even coming in, and so my question to you is: Now that you have . . . had more of an opportunity to think about it, do you remain concerned? Are you more concerned about your ability to be impartial, or . . . less concerned?

JUROR NO. 16: I would say more concerned.

[Defense counsel]: Okay. And so I guess I'll just put it to you differently. If you were the accused person in this case, and you also knew that a person such as yourself with the same views and predispositions was potentially going to be seated on your jury, would you have a concern about whether you'd be able to receive a fair trial?

JUROR NO. 16: Probably.

[Defense counsel]: Okay. Your Honor, I'm going to have several challenges. Do you want me to do them as I go or do—

THE COURT: No. Let's [do them at break.]

3RP 369-71 (emphasis added).

During his next round of questioning, the prosecutor attempted to rehabilitate prospective juror 16.

[Prosecutor]: [A]nyone can raise their hand and please let me know if this is untrue. Guns can provoke very strong feelings in people. Does everyone agree with that statement?

If the Court were to instruct you that you were to—while still being the person that you are—fully and fairly consider the evidence in this case as it applies only to this case, does anyone here believe they couldn't follow that instruction? And I don't see anyone raising their hand.

And Juror Number 16, you were asked . . . a few questions about this. . . . [Y]ou mentioned that you have prior experience and you have feelings about this. If the Court were to say you can only look at the evidence in this case and your duty is to be impartial and view it fairly, *do you think that you could try to do that*? And you nodded your head. Is . . . that you saying yes?

JUROR NO. 16: Yeah.

3RP 386 (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup>

The prosecutor later moved from a related discussion with prospective juror 27 to a discussion with 16 about whether she would want herself as a juror. This exchange occurred as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The verbatim report contains an additional answer attributed to prospective juror 16, but the question was addressed to juror 9. 3RP 386-87.

[Prosecutor]: And [prospective juror 27,] do you think that you could be the kind of juror you'd want [if you were a defendant]?

JUROR NO. 27: To be honest, I'm not a hundred percent sure, just based on my own experiences.

[Prosecutor]: Okay. . . . Do you think that you could try?

JUROR NO. 27: I can certainly try, but it'll be difficult.

[Prosecutor]: And Juror 16, same question for you. If you were a defendant, do you think you could try to be the same kind of juror that you'd want if you . . . sat in the Defendant's shoes?

JUROR NO. 16: Yeah.

[Prosecutor]: Does anyone—

JUROR NO. 16: I think so.

3RP 391 (emphasis added).

Defense counsel moved to excuse prospective juror 16 for cause. The court had already denied defense's for-cause challenges to three other prospective jurors who ultimately did not serve. 3RP 394-405 (defense for-cause challenges to first of

two groups of prospective jurors). Turning to number 16, the exchange occurred as follows:

[Defense counsel]: . . . . In response to questioning, [prospective juror 16] raised her hand indicating upfront that she had a concern that her personal experience and attitude that no one . . . needs to have a gun legally or not, would affect her feelings regarding the presumption of innocence. That raised a concern for me just right off the bat that she did raise her hand expressing a concern about her ability to be impartial.

THE COURT: Anything else?

[Defense counsel]: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Denied. Next one?

3RP 400-01.

Of several defense challenges, the court granted a single bias-related for-cause challenge, to prospective juror 27. See 3RP 394-405 (for-cause challenges to first group); 3RP 474-78 (for-cause challenges to second group). Inconsistent with decisional law, the trial court believed group questioning constituted adequate rehabilitation. See 3RP 395-96 (addressing a similar challenge to another prospective juror, stating that "on

rehabilitation, all the jurors indicated if instructed that they must fully and fairly consider just the evidence in this case, all answered yes. So I need something more than what you've just given me. I'm going to deny that motion for cause.").

Prospective juror 16 ultimately served and was seated in the jury's sixth position. 3RP 486-87.4

Following his conviction, Haybe appealed to Division One of the Court of Appeals, arguing that the trial court violated his right to an impartial jury and that even though his attorney had not removed the juror by peremptory challenge, the error was preserved based on prior decisional authority.

The Court of Appeals affirmed in a brief unpublished decision, relying on <u>Talbott</u>. App. A at 2.

Haybe moved for reconsideration, elaborating on—in light of <u>Talbott</u>—the issues raised in this petition, and the State

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The tenth seated juror was excused as the alternate. 6RP 771.

answered. The Court of Appeals denied the motion. App. B. Haybe now asks that this Court grant review and reverse.

#### D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the case presents an important constitutional issue.

2. The seating of a biased juror constituted manifest constitutional error.

This Court should grant review and hold that reversal is required based on manifest constitutional error, which this Court did not address in <u>Talbott</u>.

a. <u>Talbott did not address a claim of manifest</u> constitutional error, which Haybe can establish.

<u>Talbott</u> explicitly does not address or dispense with a claim of manifest constitutional error. Haybe can establish manifest constitutional error in this case.

This Court will consider an unpreserved error on appeal if it constitutes manifest constitutional error. RAP 2.5(a)(3); see

State v. Guevara Diaz, 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 851, 456 P.3d 869, review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1025 (2020). A party demonstrates manifest constitutional error by showing that the issue before this Court affects that party's constitutional rights and that they suffered actual prejudice. Id.

As a preliminary matter, Haybe did not focus his appellate briefing on the manifest constitutional error doctrine. Prior to <u>Talbott</u> and based on previously undisturbed decisional law from Division One, Haybe believed his appellate claim was preserved by counsel's initial objection to the juror, 3RP 400-01, and that he need not need rely on manifest error to prevail.

But Haybe pointed to the doctrine in responding to the State's arguments that defense counsel waived error by not exhausting peremptory challenges. Reply Br. of Appellant at 5-10. He elaborated in a motion for reconsideration, to ensure the Court of Appeals had an opportunity to weigh in. In any event, this Court will consider an issue for first time in a petition for Supreme Court review, particularly where "the core issue is not

new." State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 216-17, 970 P.2d 722 (1999), abrogated on other grounds, Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249, 127 S. Ct. 2400, 168 L. Ed. 2d 132 (2007).

A trial judge has an independent obligation to protect an accused person from a biased juror even in the face of inaction by the defense. State v. Irby, 187 Wn. App. 183, 193, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015). In Irby, Division One adopted the federal circuit court standard that the defense does not waive the accused's constitutional right to an impartial jury by failing to bring a forcause challenge. Id.

Applying the decision in <u>Hughes v. United States</u>, 258 F.3d 453 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001), the <u>Irby</u> court held the seating of a juror who expressed actual bias is manifest constitutional error, reviewable for the first time on appeal. <u>Irby</u>, 187 Wn. App. at 192-96. The <u>Irby</u> court emphasized the trial court's "independent obligation" to protect the accused's right to an impartial jury, "regardless of inaction by counsel or the defendant." <u>Id.</u> at 193.

Hughes and Irby are consistent with the well-recognized rule that courts must indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver of a fundamental right. Defense counsel cannot waive the accused's related right to trial by jury "without the fully informed and publicly acknowledged consent of the client." Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 418 & n.24, 108 S. Ct. 646, 98 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1988).

Defense counsel cannot waive a client's constitutional right to an impartial jury by failing to challenge a biased juror *for cause*. Divisions One and Two have applied this rule several times since Irby. State v. Phillips, 6 Wn. App. 2d 651, 666, 431 P.3d 1056 (2018); Guevara Diaz, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 851-54; State v. Lawler, 194 Wn. App. 275, 282, 374 P.3d 278 (2016).

The same reasoning applies with even more force to defense counsel's failure to use a *peremptory* challenge following a timely for-cause challenge. See State v. Ramsey, noted at 21 Wn. App. 2d 1034, 2022 WL 842605, review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1028 (2022) (nonbinding unpublished decision

stating that "a defendant who challenges a conviction based on a claim of juror bias established by the record raises an issue of manifest constitutional error that is not waived even where that defendant fails to exercise all his peremptory challenges").

Where counsel objects, but fails to exhaust peremptory challenges, the proper analysis becomes manifest constitutional error.

The Court of Appeals rejected Haybe's claims on appeal solely based on <u>Talbott</u>. Op. at 2. In <u>Talbott</u>, this Court held that "if a party 'accepted the jury as ultimately empaneled and did not exercise all of [their] peremptory challenges,' then they do not have the right to appeal 'based on the jury's composition."" <u>Talbott</u>, 200 Wn. App. at 738 (citing <u>State v. Clark</u>, 143 Wn.2d 731, 762, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001)). This Court said language in <u>State v. Fire</u>, 145 Wn.2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001), that appeared to give alternate direction, was mere dicta. <u>Talbott</u>, 521 P.3d at 955.

But <u>Talbott</u> explicitly did not address manifest constitutional error and declined to overrule or condemn related cases, including <u>Ramsey</u>. This Court stated:

[T]here are some opinions that appear to follow <u>Fire</u>, but their underlying reasoning is different. In several cases, the Court of Appeals has reached the merits of an alleged jury-selection error, despite the defendant's failure to exhaust their peremptory challenges, because the defendant "raise[d] an issue of manifest constitutional error." [Ramsey, 2022 WL 842605]; see also [Guevara Diaz, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 853].

These cases do not resolve the tension between <u>Fire</u> and <u>Clark</u> because neither [of those cases] was based on manifest constitutional error. In addition, Talbott conceded at oral argument that manifest constitutional error is not at issue here.

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