FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/15/2023 3:24 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101901-7

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### KHALID MOHAMED HAYBE,

Petitioner.

#### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

STEPHANIE FINN GUTHRIE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

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

This person . . . [i]n response to questioning, raised her hand indicating upfront that she had a concern that her personal experience and attitude that no one -- no one needs to have a gun legally or not, would affect her feelings regarding the presumption of innocence. That raised a concern for me just right off the bat that she did raise her hand expressing a concern about her ability to be impartial.

RP 401. Haybe confirmed he had no other concerns about Juror 16. RP 401. The trial court declined to excuse Juror 16. RP 401.

In a subsequent challenge for cause against Juror 27, defense counsel noted that although Juror 27 indicated a willingness to try to be impartial, her intonation made clear that she had serious concerns about whether she would be successful. RP 403-04. The trial court granted the challenge for cause, agreeing that the record established that, although Juror 27 would try to be a good juror, doing so would be difficult for her. RP 405. At no point did Haybe raise similar concerns about any nonverbal cues by Juror 16 that would

undercut her affirmative responses to the prosecutor's questions about her ability to be an impartial juror.

When the time came to exercise peremptory challenges, neither party used one against Juror 16. RP 481-87. Haybe twice accepted the panel, knowing that Juror 16 was on it, despite having one or more peremptory challenges still available to him. RP 486-87.

After deliberating for less than an hour, the jury found Haybe guilty as charged of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 101-02; RP 776.

2. HAYBE DOES NOT RAISE MANIFEST CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR OR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN HIS BRIEF OF APPELLANT OR REPLY.

Haybe raised a single claim on direct appeal: that the trial court violated his right to a fair and impartial jury by denying of his motion to excuse Juror 16 for cause. Br. of Appellant at 2, 18-30. In its response, the State argued both that (1) the trial court properly exercised its discretion because Juror 16 did not display actual bias and that (2) Haybe was barred from

challenging the trial court's ruling on appeal because he had affirmatively accepted the jury without exhausting his peremptory challenges. Br. of Respondent at 1, 15-38. In reply, Haybe argued that his for-cause challenge was sufficient to preserve the alleged error and that his acceptance of the jury did not waive his claim. Reply of Appellant at 5-20.

At no point did Haybe assert in either brief that his claim involved a "manifest constitutional error" or that RAP 2.5(a) applied in this case. He mentioned RAP 2.5 and manifest constitutional error only once: in his reply brief, when describing the holding of State v. Irby, 187 Wn. App. 183, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015). Reply of Appellant at 7. Haybe never asserted that this Court should apply RAP 2.5 in his case. He also never attempted to raise a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at any point in his opening brief or his reply.

After briefing was complete, this Court issued its decision in <u>Talbott</u>, holding that a defendant who accepts the jury panel without exhausting his peremptory challenges may

not "appeal on the basis that a seated juror should have been dismissed for cause." 200 Wn.2d at 952. Because Talbott accepted the jury despite having peremptory challenges to spare, this Court held, it was error for the Court of Appeals to reach the merits of Talbott's claim that the trial court erred in denying his challenge for cause against a particular juror. Id.

The Court of Appeals subsequently struck oral argument in this case and issued a short opinion applying <u>Talbott</u> to hold that Haybe's acceptance of the jury panel without exhausting his peremptory challenges barred consideration of his claim.

<u>Haybe</u>, slip op. at 1-2.

Haybe filed a timely motion for reconsideration, asserting for the first time that the Court of Appeals should have addressed the merits of his claim as a manifest constitutional error under RAP 2.5(a). Motion for Reconsideration at 3-9. He also asserted for the first time that his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective in affirmatively accepting the panel rather than using an available peremptory

challenge to remove Juror 16. Mot. for Recons. at 19-23. At the court's request, the State responded to Haybe's motion.

The State argued that the Court of Appeals did not err in failing to address these issues in its opinion because Haybe had not raised them, and that Haybe's new claims failed on their merits.

Answer to Mot. for Recons. The Court of Appeals denied the motion for reconsideration.

# D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

Haybe asserts that review of the Court of Appeals' opinion is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because this case involves "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States." Petition for Review at 12. However, the substance of Haybe's petition asks this Court to grant review to address two questions that were not before the Court of Appeals at the time it issued its opinion: whether Haybe's right to an unbiased jury was manifestly violated, and whether he received ineffective assistance of counsel.

Because Haybe did not timely raise these issues below, they do not provide a basis to reverse the Court of Appeals' decision in this case. Moreover, review of the merits of these issues would require only the application of the well-settled law governing manifest constitutional error, juror bias, and ineffective assistance of counsel claims to the facts of this case. As such, they do not involve significant questions of constitutional law that need to be addressed by this Court. The petition for review should be denied.

1. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT REVIEW UNTIMELY RAISED ISSUES THAT WERE NOT CONSIDERED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS.

The purpose of a motion for reconsideration is to bring to a reviewing court's attention "points of law or fact" which the moving party believes "the court has overlooked or misapprehended." RAP 12.4(c). It is not a vehicle for raising new claims for the first time, and an appellate court does not err in failing to consider a basis for relief that the appellant did not timely raise. See, e.g., Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v.

Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (holding that issue raised in a reply brief is raised "too late to warrant consideration"). The Court of Appeals properly exercised its discretion in denying Haybe's motion for reconsideration without addressing the merits of the claims on which he now seeks review.

This Court reviews decisions made by the Court of Appeals; it does not review the merits of issues the Court of Appeals did not reach. E.g., State v. Slert, 181 Wn.2d 598, 609, 334 P.3d 1088 (2014) (remanding for Court of Appeals to consider issue it did not originally reach); cf. RAP 13.1 (addressing review "of decisions of the Court of Appeals"). Moreover, an issue raised for the first time in a motion for reconsideration of a Court of Appeals opinion will not be reviewed by this Court. 1515--1519 Lakeview Boulevard Condo. Ass'n v. Apartment Sales Corp., 146 Wn.2d 194, 203 n.4, 43 P.3d 1233, 1238 (2002); see also State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) ("An issue not raised or

briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this court.").

Because the Court of Appeals properly did not address the merits of the untimely raised claims on which Haybe now seeks review, this Court should deny the petition for review.

This Court should also deny review because Haybe's untimely raised claims fail on their merits, as discussed below.

# 2. RAP 2.5(a) DOES NOT ENTITLE HAYBE TO REVIEW OF HIS CLAIM OF JUROR BIAS.

Haybe asserts that this Court should reach the merits of his challenge to the seating of Juror 16 under the "manifest constitutional error" exception in RAP 2.5(a) because this Court did not address in <u>Talbott</u> whether RAP 2.5(a) entitles a defendant to review of a failed challenge for cause even where the defendant affirmatively accepted the panel without exhausting all peremptory challenges. This argument fails for numerous reasons.

First, a reviewing court does not consider claims under RAP 2.5(a) where the appellant has not argued that RAP 2.5(a)

applies. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State v. Palmer</u>, 24 Wn. App. 2d 1, 23, 518 P.3d 252 (2022); <u>State v. Wiley</u>, 79 Wn. App. 117, 121 n.1, 900 P.2d 1116 (1995); RAP 10.3(a)(5). Aside from a single reference to RAP 2.5 his description of the holding of <u>Irby</u>, Haybe never mentioned RAP 2.5 or manifest constitutional error in his Brief of Appellant or Reply, and he certainly never asked the Court of Appeals to apply RAP 2.5 in his case. The Court of Appeals therefore did not err in failing to apply RAP 2.5(a) to reach the merits of Haybe's claim.

Second, RAP 2.5(a) by its plain language governs only consideration of claims raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a) (addressing review of "any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court"). Haybe's challenge to juror 16 was *not* raised for the first time on review, and thus RAP 2.5(a) is inapplicable.

Third, the rule reaffirmed in <u>Talbott</u>—that a defendant may not appeal the seating of a juror he affirmatively and voluntarily accepted—is essentially a manifestation of the

invited error doctrine. Both are rooted in the idea that the appellate courts will not review an asserted error to which the defendant agreed or contributed below. In re Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995) ("Under the doctrine of invited error, counsel cannot set up an error at trial and then complain of it on appeal. This court will deem an error waived if the party asserting such error materially contributed thereto."); State v. Talbott, 521 P.3d at 949, 952 ("[A] party who accepts the jury panel without exhausting their peremptory challenges cannot appeal based on the jury's composition. . . . [W]e have consistently held that if a defendant does not exercise all peremptory challenges[,] it is presumed that [they are] satisfied with the jury." (final alteration in original; internal quotation marks omitted)).

The invited error doctrine applies even to manifest constitutional errors that would otherwise be reviewable for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a). State v. Elmore, 139 Wn.2d 250, 280, 985 P.2d 289 (1999); State v. Henderson, 114

Wn.2d 867, 871, 792 P.2d 514 (1990). Courts apply the doctrine strictly, despite the sometimes harsh results. See, e.g., State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546-47, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999) (holding invited error doctrine prohibited review of legally erroneous jury instruction because defendant proposed it, even though it was standard WPIC at the time).

The rule that a defendant may not appeal the seating of a juror he affirmatively accepted despite having peremptories to spare has repeatedly been articulated in similarly stark terms, without any suggestion that there is an exception to the rule for manifest constitutional errors. Talbott, 521 P.3d at 952 ("Cases in the Clark line hold that if a party 'accepted the jury as ultimately empaneled and did not exercise all of [their] peremptory challenges,' then they do not have the right to appeal 'based on the jury's composition.'" (quoting State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 762, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001) (emphasis added)). Indeed, such an exception would swallow the rule, as every appeal based on a meritorious allegation of juror bias

would qualify. Both the logic and history of the <u>Talbott</u> rule indicate that it bars consideration of even errors that would normally be reviewable for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a).

No Washington appellate decision offers a principled basis to conclude that RAP 2.5(a) entitles Haybe to consideration of the merits of his juror bias claim. State v. Irby, on which Haybe relies in his petition, presented a very different set of facts in which the pro se defendant chose to be entirely absent for jury selection. 187 Wn. App. at 189; Petition at 14-15. Because Irby was not present when his jury was chosen, he never affirmatively accepted the juror he later challenged on appeal. The principles underlying the Talbott rule and the invited error doctrine have no application in such a scenario. Irby therefore provides no basis to conclude that the Talbott rule does not apply in this case, where Haybe *did* affirmatively accept the juror he had challenged for cause and later challenged again on appeal.

The other cases on which Haybe relies are similarly unpersuasive. State v. Guevara Diaz has no bearing on this case, because Guevara Diaz exhausted his peremptory challenges. 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 853, 456 P.3d 869 (2020). The Talbott rule thus did not apply in his case. And because Guevara Diaz's juror bias claim was truly raised for the first time on appeal, RAP 2.5(a) could be properly applied.

In State v. Ramsey, Division Two of this Court applied Guevara Diaz's RAP 2.5 holding to a defendant who had *not* exhausted his peremptories and who *had* raised the issue in the trial court, without any analysis of why Guevara Diaz would apply in such different circumstances. State v. Ramsey, No. 54638-8-II, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1034, 2022 WL 842605, at \*7-8 (Mar. 22, 2022) (unpublished), review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1028 (2022). Although this Court in Talbott declined to address the validity of Ramsey—because Talbott conceded that manifest constitutional error was not at issue in his case—the fact

remains that <u>Ramsey</u> is wrongly decided and provides no basis to grant review in this case.

Finally, as explained in the Brief of Respondent, the record does not establish that Juror 16 was actually biased. Br. of Respondent at 27-38. Haybe therefore fails to establish a manifest violation of his right to an unbiased jury.

3. HAYBE FAILS TO ESTABLISH THAT HE RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Haybe asserted for the first time in his motion for reconsideration that the Court of Appeals should have reversed his conviction because his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective in choosing not to use an available peremptory challenge to remove Juror 16 from the panel. The Court of Appeals properly denied the motion for reconsideration. First, the claim was untimely raised, and would have been untimely even if it had been raised in Haybe's reply rather than his motion for reconsideration. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v.

Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) ("An issue

raised and argued for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant consideration.").

Second, Haybe's claim fails on its merits. In order to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant bears the burden to show that (1) defense counsel's performance was deficient and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Cienfuegos, 144 Wn.2d 222, 226-27, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001). To establish that defense counsel's representation was deficient, a defendant must show that "it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances." State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). There is a strong presumption that counsel's representation was effective. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 35, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). Performance is not deficient if it represents a legitimate trial strategy or tactic. Id. at 33.

In order to show that he was prejudiced by deficient conduct, a defendant must show that defense counsel's errors were "so serious as to deprive him of a fair trial." <u>Cienfuegos</u>, 144 Wn.2d at 230. This requires "the existence of a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>Id.</u> at 229.

Haybe's claim of ineffective assistance is based solely on his assertion that the seating of Juror 16 violated his right to a fair trial. But as explained in the Brief of Respondent, the record does not establish that Juror 16 was actually biased. Haybe therefore cannot show that his counsel's decision to leave Juror 16 on the jury was an unreasonable tactical choice, and cannot establish a reasonable probability that the verdict would have been different had Juror 16 not deliberated. The Court of Appeals properly declined to reconsider its opinion in this case, and review by this Court is not warranted.

# E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 4,968 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 15th day of May, 2023.

Respectfully submitted,

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

STEPHANIE FINN GUTHRIE, WSBA #43033

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

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